
 

Date of meeting 
 

Tuesday, 8th September, 2015  

Time 
 

7.00 pm  

Venue 
 

Committee Room 1. Civic Offices, Merrial Street, 
Newcastle-under-Lyme, Staffs ST5 2AG 

 

Contact Geoff Durham 

 

   
  

 
 

Conservation Advisory Working Party 

 

AGENDA 

 

PART 1 – OPEN AGENDA 

 

1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    

 To receive Declarations of Interest from Members on items included in this agenda 
 
 

2 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS   (Pages 3 - 4) 

 To consider the minutes of the previous meeting(s) 
 

3 PREVIOUSLY CONSIDERED APPLICATIONS   (Pages 5 - 6) 

 To receive the decisions of applications which have been previously considered by this 
Working Party 
 

4 NEW APPLICATIONS RECEIVED   (Pages 7 - 24) 

 To make observations on new applications received. 
 

5 CONSERVATION AND HERITAGE FUND   (Pages 25 - 26) 

 To consider any applications for financial assistance from the Conservation and Heritage 
Fund which may have been brought to this meeting by the officer 
 

6 Shop Front Design Guide   (Pages 27 - 42) 

7 URGENT BUSINESS    

 To consider any business which is urgent within the meaning of Section 100B(4) of the 
Local Government Act, 1972.  
 

 
Members: Councillors Allport (Vice-Chair), Cooper, Eastwood, Johnson and Naylon 

(Chair) 
 

PLEASE NOTE: The Council Chamber and Committee Room 1 are fitted with a loop system.  In addition, 
there is a volume button on the base of the microphones.  A portable loop system is available for all 
other rooms.  Should you require this service, please contact Member Services during the afternoon 
prior to the meeting. 

Public Document Pack



 
Members of the Council: If you identify any personal training/development requirements from any of  the 
items included in this agenda or through issues raised during the meeting, please bring them to the 
attention of the Democratic Services Officer at the close of the meeting. 
 
Meeting Quorums :- 16+= 5 Members; 10-15=4 Members; 5-9=3 Members; 5 or less = 2 Members. 

 
Officers will be in attendance prior to the meeting for informal discussions on agenda items. 



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Conservation Advisory Working Party - 17/08/15 

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

1 

CONSERVATION ADVISORY WORKING PARTY 

 
Monday, 17th August, 2015 

 
Present:-  Councillor Wenslie Naylon – in the Chair 

 
Councillors Cooper and Johnson 

 
Representing 
Outside Bodies 

Mr David Broome, Newcastle Civic Society 
Mr J Whieldon, Newcastle Civic Society 
 
 

 
Apologies were received from Councillor(s) White 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS  

 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 July, 2015 be 

agreed as a correct record. 
 

3. MATTERS ARISING  

 
 

The Working Party requested a hard copy of the Hawthorns, Keele appeal 
decision to share.  The officer agreed to organise this and pass a copy to the 
Chair. 
 

Resolved:  That the information be received. 
 
 

4. PREVIOUSLY CONSIDERED APPLICATIONS  

 
Resolved: That the decisions on applications previously considered by 

this Working Party be received. 
 

5. NEW APPLICATIONS RECEIVED  

 
App No Proposed development and 

name of applicant 
Comments 

   

14/00569/FUL Former exchange, 
Wilbrahams Walk, Audley 

The Working Party felt 
that there would be a 
visual impact on the 
Conservation Area, but 
that it would not be 
harmful to its character 
or appearance. It 
requested that the 
plaque be retained and 
erected on the 
refurbished building. 

   

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Conservation Advisory Working Party - 17/08/15 

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

2 

   

   

15/00607/FUL 

 

 
 
 
15/00662/FUL 
 
 
 
15/00687/ADV 
 
 

Former Mellards 
Warehouse, Market Lane, 
Newcastle 
 
Beehive Cottage, Back 
Lane, Betley 
 
 
Former Bank, Union 
Square, Keele University 

No objections 
 
 
 
No objections 
 
 
 
The Working Party is 
very concerned about 
the number of signs 
around the campus for 
this one shop/business 
especially as the signs 
are retrospective.  It 
strongly objects to the 
pole mounted sign and 
the sign on the bus 
shelter as no other 
shops advertise on the 
roundabout and in these 
locations and it adds to 
the signage clutter on 
sensitive campus 
environment.  It thinks 
that the two fascia signs 
are unnecessary and 
strongly objects to the 
signs on the dedicated 
parking bays because 
they have a harmful 
impact on the setting of 
the Listed Chapel from 
this view and should be 
removed.  

   

 
 

6. URGENT BUSINESS  

 
The officer presented amended plans for application 15/00520/FUL at Hassell 
Street.  The Working Party felt that the scheme was much improved from the 
previous scheme and were happy with the amendments. 
 
Resolved:  That the information be received. 

 
 
 

COUNCILLOR WENSLIE NAYLON 

Chair 

 

Page 4



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

DECISIONS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL ON APPLICATIONS WHICH 
HAVE PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONSIDERED BY THE WORKING PARTY 

 
For reports on all committee decisions, please follow the minutes and agendas search on the Council’s website or refer to your copy of the Planning agenda 
for the permitted date.  Reports for delegated items can be found in the public access section of the Council’s website and a direct link to the application is 
provided in the last column. 
 

Reference Location and 
Applicant 

Development Working Party Comments  Planning Decision 

15/00392/FUL Keele University 

Leisure Centre 

Upgrading of sports 

facilities 

No objections Approved by Planning Committee on 11 August 2015  
 

www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/planning/1400392FUL 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15/00369/ADV Lindsay Hall Block, 

Keele 

Retention of temporary 

banner signs 

No objections Approved by delegated powers on  30 July 2015 
 
www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500369ADV 
 
 

 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 APPENDIX ‘B’ 

CONSERVATION ADVISORY WORKING PARTY 
 

  

Reference Location and Applicant Development Remarks Link 

15/00647/FUL 46A Merrial Street, Newcastle  Change of use of former stable 
block into meeting space with 
residential accommodation and 
replacement gate to front of yard 

Within Newcastle 
Town Centre 
Conservation Area      
and associated 
frontage building is on 
the councils Register 
of Locally Important 
Buildings 

 
www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500647FUL 
 
 
 
 

15/00703/ADV Betley Court Farm, Main Road, 
Betley 

Retention of advertisement signs Within Betley 
Conservation Area 
and farmhouse on 
Councils local 
Register. 

www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500703ADV 
 
 
 
 
 

15/00711/FUL St Giles Church, Church 
Street, Newcastle  

Removal of spoil mound and trees, 
relocation of headstones, new 
parking and church precinct 

Within Newcastle 
Town Centre 
Conservation Area 
and within churchyard 
of Grade II* listed 
church 

www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500711FUL 
 
 
 
 

15/00713/FUL Yew Tree House, Maer Demolish garage and erect two 
storey side extension 

Within Maer 
Conservation Area 

www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500713FUL 
 
 

15/00724/FUL 10 Sidmouth Avenue, 
Newcastle 

Proposed 4 detached dwellings, 
change of use of existing buildings 
to single dwelling, demolition of 
part of former children’s home and  
detached garage 
 

Within Brampton 
Conservation Area 

www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500724FUL 
 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

15/00736/FUL Briarwood, Common Lane, 
Betley 
 

Proposed garden room Within Betley 
Conservation Area 

www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500736FUL 
 

15/00704/FUL Kidsgrove Working Man’s 
Club, Hardingswood Road, 
Kidsgrove 

Replacement of existing 15m 
monopole with 14.7m monopole 
and cabinet 
 

Adjacent to 
Hardingswood 
Conservation Area 

www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500704FUL 
 

15/00685/FUL & 
15/00686/ADV 

57-58 Ironmarket, Newcastle Change of use of bank to café, 
alterations to shopfront, 
advertisements and extraction 
system and external terrace area 
 

Within Newcastle 
Town Centre 
Conservation Area 

www.newcastle-
staffs.gov.uk/planning/1500685FUL 
 

 

P
age 8



Place

STREET

56

43 45

24

7

46

51

13

CORPORATION

11

MERRIAL STREET

4

9 11

15
17

20

49

42

LB

HIGH

5 7 9

57

Club

22
18

Civic Offices

47

FOGG ST WEST

HICKMAN STREET
3 5

York

52

10 to 8

1

16

9 to
 15

Fenton
House

1 to 8

384800.000000

384800.000000

346
100

.00
00

00

346
100

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00647/FUL
46A Merrial Street, Newcastle 

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:500¯

Merria
l Street

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



The White Cottage

Ravenshall

Fields

Ravenscourt Barns

Cottage
Brook

View

PondSluice
72.0m

375300.000000

375300.000000

375400.000000

375400.000000

348
100

.00
00

00

348
100

.00
00

00

348
200

.00
00

00

348
200

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00703/ADV
Betley Court Farm, Main Road, Betley

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:1,000¯

Betley Court Farm

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



2

PH

118.3m

65

Roebuck Shopping Centre61 to 63

Morston
House

56

PH

PH

Bank

11

3

LOWER STREET

40

24

44

3

15

34

St Giles' Church

12

1

51

13

3

125.3m

11
FR

OGHALL 4

Fellgate Court

CHURCH STREET

28

15

10

17

1

20

36

120.1m

PCs

LB

8

19

5

2

32

HIGH

9

29

5 7 9

1

PE
PP

ER
 ST

REE
T

57

PH

35

Club

22

STREET

BRIDGE STREET

7

18

25
27

17

21

HICKMAN STREET

31

14

El Sub Sta

23

4

19

Work
s

52

16

PW

10 to 8

16

2

9 to
 15

Fenton
House

1 to 8

384600.000000

384600.000000

384700.000000

384700.000000

346
000

.00
00

00

346
000

.00
00

00

346
100

.00
00

00

346
100

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00711/FUL
St Giles Church, Church Street, 
Newcastle

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:1,000¯
Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Stone

7Holly

8Cottage

Cottage

2

121.3m

LB

Croft

4

MaerHouse

117.7m

Yard
Stone Cottage

House

2

Yew

Gardener's Cottage

1The Garden House

Maer
Cottage

Home Farm

Path
 (um

)

New
1

6

Jubilee Cottage

Bothy

House

Holly

The

Laundry

Cottage

The OldTree House

Lee's

Post Office

379200.000000

379200.000000

338
000

.00
00

00

338
000

.00
00

00

338
100

.00
00

00

338
100

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00713/FUL
Yew Tree House, Maer

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:1,000¯
Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



(Arts Centre)

Playground
Miniature Railway 6

Pitfield House

146.0m

Greystones

PH

142.5m

11

11
a

34

El Sub Sta

15

NORTHCOTE PLACE

Surgery 62
58 60

56

38
40

9

GRANVILLE AVENUE

17

6

9

1 t
o 1

4
21

19

11

1

MILLER STREET

28

36

GO
WE

R 
ST

RE
ET

10
1

4

2

8

3

6

64

5

1

The

4

Court

2

Path

Bungalow

15

Northcote

4

CRED and Ward Bdy

385300.000000

385300.000000

385400.000000

385400.000000

346
400

.00
00

00

346
400

.00
00

00

346
500

.00
00

00

346
500

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00724/FUL
10 Sidmouth Avenue, Newcastle

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:1,000¯
Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Tudor

BRASSINGTON ST

House PO

Swan Inn

Gardeners

Bowhill

71.6m

The Steppes

CottageMAIN ROAD

Betley

Cottage

1

Five Steppes

Summerhouse

Conifer Cottage

Little Manor

Beech

Roche

Briarwood

House

Re
ad

ing

Rose View

Shade House

Laburnum Cottage

81.0m

Bank House

Sunny

The Gables

Saddler's

The Hollies

Chines

Farm

Rostherne

The Old Post Office
Cottage

Ivy

2

Wood

House

(PH)

House

Cullins

TCB

Side

Black Horse

5 6

COURT

Black Horse

CHAMBERLAIN

Byrne Cottage

RecreationHouse

ChamberlainHouse

Peace-Haven

As
hli

ng

The
Conifers

Willhope

Orchard House

Solarias House

Highfield House

12

Hillside

Mere

Bluebell
Lodge

Cottage

Ro
om

House
Cottage

House

The Barn

The Coach HouseThe Square

375300.000000

375300.000000

375400.000000

375400.000000348
500

.00
00

00

348
500

.00
00

00

348
600

.00
00

00

348
600

.00
00

00

348
700

.00
00

00

348
700

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00736/FUL
Briarwood, Common Lane, Betley

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:1,000¯
Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



El Sub Sta

Club

LIVERPOOL ROAD

22

21

125.4m

Overflow

Issues

Locks

23

2

LB

Sinks

Shelter

Towing Path

Trent and Mersey Canal

MPs

10

123.8m

Water

MP

CR

Ward Bdy

Ward Bdy

383600.000000

383600.000000

354
600

.00
00

00

354
600

.00
00

00

354
700

.00
00

00

354
700

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00704/FUL
Kidsgrove Working Man’s Club, 
Hardingswood Road, Kidsgrove

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:1,000¯

Railway

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



(remains of)

1

Lancaster Building

45

TCBs

14

Cross

3
49HIGH STREET

2
47

PH

61

17

50

4

8

11

51

56

43

9

8

TCBs

14

59

4

Bank

21

133.4m

CHEAPSIDE

55a

6

MARKET LANE

12a 13

10

49

55
5

18

Posts

IRONMARKET

20

16

7

58

13

57

9 to 12

12

19

384900.000000

384900.000000

346
000

.00
00

00

346
000

.00
00

00

This map is reproduced from the Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and may  lead to civil proceedings.
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council - 100019654 - 2013

15/00685/FUL & 15/00686/ADV
57-58 Ironmarket, Newcastle

Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council
Planning & Development Services
Date 08.09.2015

1:500¯
Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



  

  

Applications for Financial Assistance from the Conservation and Heritage Fund for, 
Smithy House, 4 Highway Lane, Keele (Ref: 15/16003/HBG) and churchyard wall at 
St Thomas Church, Mow Cop (Ref: 15/16004/HBG) 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the Working Party indicates its views on proposals going to the Planning 
Committee:- 
 

1. £210 for the replacement of 2 timber windows at Smithy House, Highway 
Lane, Keele, subject to the appropriate standard conditions  

 
2. £3,834, for the conservation repair of the churchyard wall, St Thomas 

Church, Mow Cop, subject to the appropriate standard conditions  
 

 

Purpose of report 
 
To inform the Working Party of two applications for financial assistance and to give the 
Working Party an opportunity to express its views on those application. 
 
The views of the Working Party will be reported to the Planning Committee.  
 

  
1. Smithy House, 4 Highway Lane, Keele 
 
An application has been received from the owner of the property which is on the Council’s 
Register of Locally Important Buildings and within the Keele Conservation Area.  The 
application is for replacement of 2 windows.  The windows are timber with a painted finish 
and will be replaced like for like.  The total cost of this work is £2,100 including VAT.   
 
The property has taken up two previous grants of £1,664 in August 2013 for repair to the 
roof, walls, downspouts etc and a second of £297 in October 2014 for work to 4 of the 
timber windows.   All of this work has been completed and the grants claimed.   
                               
The current works are eligible for grant up to 10% of the total costs which comes to £210.   
 
2. Churchyard wall at St Thomas’s Church, Mow Cop 
 
The churchyard wall surrounds the church matches the stone in the church and is a 
curtilage structure to the Grade II listed church.  As the churchyard is classified as a 
“closed” churchyard, the Borough Council take on the responsibility of any future 
maintenance.  There wall was poorly repointed in a hard cement mortar in the 1980’s is 
causing further degradation of the stone.  The proposal is to repoint the wall in a hydraulic 
lime mortar to preserve the wall for the future. 
 
The lowest quotation for the work is £19,170 including VAT.  The work is eligible for grant 
up to 20% of the total cost which comes to £3,834.  
 
 
Financial Implications           
 
There is sufficient funding to meet both grant applications with £33,000 in the Fund 
allowing for current commitments.  

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Newcastle-under-Lyme
Shop Front

Design Guidance

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



Contents

Introduction 1

Planning permissions, consents and policies 2

Evolution of shop fronts 4

General design principles 4

Elements of a shop front 6

Existing shop fronts 9

New shop fronts 9

Materials, details and colour 9

Adverts - guiding principles 10

Hanging or projecting signs 10

Illumination 11

Security 11

Accessibility 12

Local Register 12

Summary 12

Appendix : 13
Planning policies which may be relevant 
for shop front design

Page 28



Introduction

In the last few years, the character and quality of the
town centre has been eroded by unsympathetic 
alterations, which has an impact on the whole shopping
area. To a pedestrian, the most obvious part of a town is
often the shop front on the ground floor. Most ground
floors in town centres have a commercial use and are
vulnerable to change every time businesses change.
Some historic shop fronts or features do still survive and
should be retained. Attractive, well designed shopping
areas encourage shoppers and investment into town
centres.  

The aim of this guidance is to show owners, occupiers
and developers how to improve the visual quality of the
area, maintain the special qualities of that area and 
contribute to the long-term benefit of the commercial
area as a whole. It also sets out the basic principles,
guidelines and policies the local planning authority will
use when assessing applications for new and historic
shop fronts and signage but also when assessing other
commercial properties such as pubs, banks and other
professional businesses. It is also hoped that these 
principles will help to reverse any adverse alterations
and erosion of quality that has taken place over the years
especially in the borough’s Conservation Areas. 

The focus of this guidance is for Newcastle town centre
but it should be noted that it is intended to cover the
whole borough and all premises at street level, including
banks, estate agents and residential conversions.

1
Page 29



Planning policy

Planning policies from the Newcastle-under-Lyme and
Stoke-on-Trent Core Spatial Strategy 2006-2026 and
saved policies from the Newcastle-under-Lyme Local
Plan 2011 form the basis of the important considerations
the Council will take into account when making decisions
about changes to commercial properties, especially
those within a Conservation Area or affecting a Listed
Building. This guide will supplement and not take away
the need for skilled and professional advice. For further
information on planning policies which may be relevant
to shop front design please see Appendix on page 13.

Planning process

Nearly all changes to a shop front will require planning
permission and may also need Advertisement Consent,
Listed Building Consent and Building Regulation 
approval. Information for these permissions and consents
is available at www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/planning
including additional information that is required with 
any submission such as justification for proposals in a
Heritage Asset Statement.

Planning Permission – This is required for any alteration
which materially affects the external appearance of the
shop front, including installation of blinds/canopies, 
security shutters, enlarging the size of the fascia or 
removal/replacement of original elements of an historic
shop front where it materially affects its appearance.

Listed Building Consent – If a building affected is a
listed building, consent is required for any alterations
which affect the character or special interest of that
building. Even relatively minor work may also need 
consent and that may include work to any historic
internal fixtures and fittings if they still survive. All work
needs to be fully justified in a written statement. Failure
to get Listed Building Consent, if it is required, is 
illegal.

Advertisement Consent – Regulations for signs are very
specific although some signs can be displayed with
“deemed consent” as they are exempt from control.
Nearly all illuminated signs require consent as do those
above ground floor level, signs on a different wall from
the shop front and flags, banners and pole signs. Where

an advert is proposed, details for the consent should 
include position of the sign on the building, its size, all
dimensions, the type of lettering, materials, colour
scheme, illuminations and method of illumination.  

Displaying an advert without consent is illegal and
the Council may prosecute the person responsible.
Consent for signage is also time limited and should
be renewed.

Building Regulation Approval – Early consultation with
building control officers is recommended especially
before drawing up proposals for listed buildings. Build-
ing Regulation approval is required where proposals 
involve significant or structural changes to a shop front
or any means of escape. Please visit www.stoke.gov.uk
for more information.

It is strongly advised that you seek specialist design
advice from an architect and the local planning 
authority before carrying out work to a shop partic-
ularly within the Town Centre Conservation Area.
No alterations should be done without first gaining
the necessary consent. Please note that works to a
listed building without Listed Building Consent may
be considered a criminal offence which could result
in prosecution.

2
Page 30



3
Page 31



Evolution of shop fronts

Shops were originally part of the ground floor of a
house and this would be adapted to what was being
sold. Early shops took on the appearance we recognise
in the second half of the 18th century – that is a raised
window, decorative surround, fascia with the shop
name and a central or offset doorway.  

Few early shop fronts survive and generally it is later 19th
century shop fronts which can be seen today. Clearly
some shops were purposely designed buildings but
others were modified houses. What is clear is that in
general great care was taken to ensure the design and
proportion of the building was appropriate to the entire
façade of the building.  

Shop front designers often showed great craftsmanship
and attention to detail. As glass became available in
larger sizes, the multi-paned windows were replaced

by larger panes but these were still limited and were
often divided up with glazing bars. Large plate glass
shop fronts are a modern development.

General principles = Good design that recognises the
importance of various elements of the shop front and
respects the building and its context.

Scale and proportion

At the design stage, scale and proportion of elements 
of any new shop front should be paramount. The new
shop front should respect and enhance the building
which it occupies. No single feature of the shop front
should be too dominant.

Quality

4
Page 32



In designing a new shop front there should be a com-
mitment to high quality and standards of craftsmanship.
Each new shop front should be designed as a whole
and not as a mix of components or separate elements
with simply applied mouldings. Materials should be of a
high quality and the results should be elegant and 
appropriate.

Context

New shop fronts should be designed to fit in with their
wider surroundings or context. Research of a particular
character of a street or place should always be carried
out to inform the design of any new frontage. For 
example, is the new shop front within a Conservation
Area or does the area have any specific guidance or
guidelines for new design? Assessments of the adjacent
buildings or shop fronts and prevailing character of the
area including age, design, form, detailing and colour
should always be done. If the new shop front is to be
built from a traditional style, it should be as well 
informed and historically accurate as possible and 
appropriate. In summary, it is important to look at the
wider street or terrace, stand back and appraise the area
from a number of angles. This does not mean design
must be uniform; contrasts can also be effective if the
rhythm of the buildings is maintained.

5
Page 33



Various elements of a quality shop front all have a 
particular function. They form a robust frame and 
provide protection for the goods inside. The frame 
supports the upper part of the building.

Stallriser – these provide a solid base to a shop front
and offer practical protection at low level from damage,
water and scuffing. Traditionally the height of stallrisers
varies between 450mm and 600mm. Normally they are

made from durable
material and can be
tiles, marble, stone or
brick (sometimes 
rendered). The detail
is that they normally
have a chamfered or
moulded edge. They
are also often 
constructed from
painted timber but
this is less durable.

Doorways and entrances – doorways traditionally
were often recessed and this provides a practical and
characteristic feature of a shop front. The entrance was
often splayed and set back by at least a metre. The floor

of the entrance was
often covered in tiles
or mosaic, sometimes
with a pattern or the
owner’s name or busi-
ness. Doors themselves
were often an integral
part of the shop front
design or comple-
mented it and often
had a fanlight which
could be open for
ventilation or decora-

tive. The doors often had a solid base to match the 
stallriser.

Glazing – large undivided areas of glass should be
avoided in the majority of cases. Historically the size of
the glass was limited and was held in between glazing
bars. Window displays should be interesting and
changed regularly to stimulate interest and encourage
shoppers. In the
case of banks,
building soci-
eties and betting
shops etc, it is
important to
give thought to
providing a 
visual display.

Elements of a shop front

6

Fascia Fanlight Cornice
Capping piece

Console bracket

Mullion / transom
Pilaster

Pilaster base

Stall riserDoorCill Recessed
doorway

Awning box

Page 34



Pilasters – these uprights give the impression of being
structural; a visual column marking the end of the shop
front which are usually constructed from timber but can
be stone or marble. They are based on classical archi-
tecture and they have a base or plinth at the bottom
providing extra strength and a capping at the top. 
Pilasters can be plain, panelled or fluted.

Fascia – the fascia board is between the console brack-
ets and provides space for advertising the business, its
name, trade and number. It is an important design 
element in the framework of the frontage. They should
be kept well below the first floor window and can be
flat or angled downwards. The height of the fascia
should always be proportionate to the size of the shop
front and so should not be excessively deep (generally
no more than 600mm deep).  

Console brackets – this is a bracket usually taking the
form of a scroll or other shaped pieces of timber. These
are usually topped with a capping, often semi-circular
or triangular in shape. These elements frame the fascia.

7
Page 35



8

Cornice – fascia boards
usually have a projection
above it in the form of a
moulded timber cornice
finished with a lead or
other metal sheet material
(flashing). The depth and
size of the cornice usually
depends on the size of
the shop front.  

Canopies

Canopies were generally added in the late 19th century,
mainly on south-facing shop fronts, and were designed
as an integral part of the shop front. In general the indi-
vidual architectural qualities of the building on which
the blind is proposed should be carefully considered.
Canvas canopies are considered appropriate if they are
integral to the shop front and should retract back fully.
Plastic canopies and “Dutch” or balloon blinds are not
generally considered appropriate, especially within a
Conservation Area, and will be resisted.

✗

✓

Page 36



Existing shop fronts

Any proposed alterations to original historic and intact
shop fronts will be assessed carefully to ensure that 
alterations are sympathetic to the character of these 
features so that the special character is not eroded or
compromised. Where elements of original but altered
shop fronts remain they should be restored where 
possible before being replaced. Replacement and rein-
statement should be based on appropriate information
and photographs if available. Permission will not be
given to removal of original shop front elements and it
will be expected that they will be incorporated into any
new design. Repairs do not require any permission.
Maintenance is key - timely repairs on a regular basis can
safeguard the condition of buildings and shop fronts.
Otherwise major and more costly repairs will be neces-
sary. Derelict buildings or those in need of repair can be
an eyesore and harm the overall appearance of a town
centre.

New shop fronts

Whether a shop front is a replacement of an existing 
shop front, or a new opening, a replica of an historic
shop front or a contemporary one, the above principles
will always apply. Firstly an appraisal is required of the
existing shop front. The result should be a shop front
which is appropriate to its host building and its context
including the design, detailing and general appearance.
The outcome of a new shop front based on these 
principles is that it will enhance the environment of the
street by being well designed and of high quality. An 
attractive shopping environment generally will increase

trade and have a positive effect on economic regenera-
tion. Any modern shop front should still reinterpret the
proportions and form of adjacent shops, but in a 
contemporary manner. If materials are marketed as 
maintenance-free, this usually means that when they
wear out they need to be replaced and cannot be 
repaired, which is more expensive in the long run.

Materials, details and colour

Traditional shop fronts were constructed from timber
and had a painted finish. Carpentry and craftsmanship
were essential parts of the construction of any shop
front. Materials of new shop fronts should ideally be
well-seasoned good quality softwood. Colour is 

important and the
sensitive use of
colour offers scope
for improving the
appearance of the
streetscene. 
Generally rich,
deep colours often
look good particu-
larly when used on
traditional shop
fronts. The use of
other colours to
highlight details
can also be effec-
tive. The colours
that were available

9
Page 37



and affordable in the 19th and 20th centuries were 
limited - dark hues were the most practical. A high gloss
finish is more resistant to damage. Corporate colours
will be considered but they must be appropriate.

Advertisements

The main kinds of advertisements are fascia signs, 
projecting or hanging signs and wall mounted signs and
“A” boards. Adverts can be harmful to the building
where they are displayed or harm the street if the style,
lettering, colours or illumination are ill-considered.

Guiding principles -   

● Adverts should be designed in scale and 
proportion with the shop front and the building 
of which the shop front is part

● They should be to a high standard of design

● They should relate architecturally to the building 
on which they are part and should not dominate
the shop front or building but respect its scale 
and proportion

● They should be sympathetic to the surrounding 
scale and streetscene

● They should be constructed from durable, 
appropriate materials

● The typeface or font for the lettering, its layout 
and design should be legible and simple

Fascia signs are perhaps the most prominent and effec-
tive form of advertising and they do fulfil an important
role in communicating the business.  

They are the most prominent element of a shop front
and therefore the position and design can either create
clutter or enhance the streetscene. The fascia advert
should be in harmony with all other elements of the
frontage and it should not obscure windows or other 
architectural details. In general simple and contrasting
lettering will be the most legible. In the Conservation
Area, a timber fascia with applied or painted letters is
the most appropriate. Acrylic or shiny materials and 
reflective lettering will be resisted and where this is 
currently found, when a change is proposed a better
quality material should be chosen. Box fascias should
be avoided.  

Hanging or projecting signs

Traditionally a hanging sign was designed to swing and
modern hanging signs often mimic these but are static.
They can provide a visually interesting and important 
element of advertising but if too many are found along

10
Page 38



one location, they can cause a cluttered appearance.
This then undermines the principle of the advert attract-
ing the attention of the passer by. The hanging sign
should not undermine the appearance of the building,
should be appropriately sized and if existing brackets
survive they should be re-used. Hanging signs should
not be a hazard to pedestrians or vehicles and there
should be only one hanging sign per shop. It should not
be assumed that every shop can display a hanging sign;
they will be carefully controlled and so this should be
justified to the local planning authority. Internally illumi-
nated hanging signs are not considered acceptable.

Other adverts – some businesses and shops have a
tendency to over advertise and have too many signs -
this shows a lack of respect for the character of the
streetscene. This includes “A” boards which are often
placed outside a shop, outside alleyways or in locations
that are nowhere near the shop. “A” boards are often
not on private land but are part of the highway and can
be a hazard to pedestrians, especially those with
pushchairs, those in wheelchairs and the visually 
impaired. This is the case in parts of Newcastle town
centre but they are controlled by Staffordshire County
Council. All advertising should be carefully considered
and respect the streetscene.  

Illumination

Illuminated signs will be resisted in Conservation Areas
except Newcastle town centre and the commercial part
of Audley village because some illumination can be
beneficial to the night-time economy. The Council will
still ensure that all advertisements are sensitive to their
environment and enhance the area. Generally illumination
should be necessary, subtle and an integral part of the
fascia or shop front either by illuminating individual 
letters or logo or by “halo” illumination if it complements
the design of the shop front. Internally illuminated box
fascia or other signs will not be considered acceptable.
Any external illumination should be the minimum
amount necessary and be discreet. Neon lighting will 
be resisted as being inappropriate as will flashing or 
moving illumination.

Security

It’s obviously very important to owners that their 
properties are secure but security can be carried out
without the need for solid external roller shutters which
are not be permitted in Conservation Areas. During the
day solid shutters create an unattractive and harmful 
appearance. At night the atmosphere it creates can be
intimidating, encourage graffiti and is generally less 
attractive.  

The preferred method of shop security is toughened or
laminated glass or lattice shutters installed internally.
Neither of these methods require planning permission.
Other security methods such as CCTV can be a good
deterrent and complement other measures to protect
entry points to buildings. Window mullions to reduce
the size of the panes of glass also give additional

11
Page 39



12

strength to shop fronts. Simple wrought iron gates can
be used to secure doorways. These external additions
will require planning permission.

All security systems should feature an open lattice or 
perforated design, be located back from the display
window and painted appropriately, perhaps to 
co-ordinate with an existing colour scheme. External
shutters will be resisted but might be considered 
acceptable if they are of lattice type, only cover the
glass instead of the whole shop front and the box is
fully recessed into the shop front.  

Accessibility

New shop fronts should enable people to gain access
easily. Steps should be avoided but access should also
be provided without detriment to the character and 
design of the shop front. Early discussion is advised
with the local planning authority and it is recommended
to carry out an independent access audit by a qualified
person.

Ideally the entrance to the shop should be designed to
be level with the pavement. If this is not possible a non-
slip ramp (maximum gradient 1:12) should be provided

or a secondary access point. Whilst it is important to 
ensure access for all through the main entrance of all
buildings, that access should be provided without
detriment to the character and design of the shop front.
Where the access affects a listed building it is important
that there is early discussions with the local planning 
authority - the disability discrimination requirements
need to be reconciled to decide what the impact is on
the special character and appearance of the building.
For visually impaired people, the entrance can be 
emphasised through colour and textual contrasts. 
Overall, the local planning authority will seek to retain
the unique character of buildings within the borough.  

Buildings on the Local Register

The Council maintains a Register of Locally Important
Buildings and will consider including historic shop
fronts to encourage preservation of worthy features.  
This does not give the Council extra statutory powers to
protect these elements specifically; it will ensure that
the value of the building and its elements is recognised
and valued where possible, including consideration of
grant aid. 
www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/localregister

✗

✓

SUMMARY

● Decide new or alter existing

● Appraise building and consult architect

● Discuss with the Council if there are any 
specific consents or requirements

● Prepare design

● Make planning application/advertisement 
consent

● Building regulations

● Following consent, tender from builders

● Install shop front / start repairs or 
alterations

Page 40



13

Appendix : Planning policies which may be relevant for shop front design

Newcastle-under-Lyme and Stoke-on-Trent Core Spatial Strategy 2006-2026

CSP1 – Design Quality 

CSP2 – Historic Environment  

Newcastle-under-Lyme Local Plan 2011 (saved policies)

B5: Control of development affecting the setting of a Listed Building

B6: Extension or alteration of Listed Buildings

B9: Prevention of harm to Conservation Areas

B10: The requirement to preserve or enhance the appearance of a Conservation Area

B13: Design and development in Conservation Areas

B14: Development in or adjoining the boundary of Conservation Areas

B16: Shop fronts in Conservation Areas

B17: Awning, canopies and blinds in Conservation Areas

B18: Security shutters in Conservation Areas

B19: Illuminated signs in Conservation Areas

B20: Illuminated fascia and other signs in Conservation Areas

Page 41



Page 42


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of previous meetings
	3 Previously Considered Applications
	4 New Applications Received
	15 647
	15 703
	15 711
	15 713
	15 724
	15 736
	15 704
	15 685 686

	5 Conservation and Heritage Fund
	6 Shop Front Design Guide

